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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF INDIANA 

TERRE HAUTE DIVISION 

 

LEOLA SARVER, 

Plaintiff, 

 

vs. 

 

STAPLES THE OFFICE SUPERSTORE EAST, 

INC., 

Defendant. 

 ) 

 ) 

 ) 

 ) 

 ) 

 ) 

 ) 

 ) 

 

 

 

2:12-cv-374-JMS-MJD 

 

ORDER GRANTING DEFENDANT’S SUMMARY JUDGMENT MOTION 

Presently pending before the Court is Defendant Staples The Office Superstore East, 

Inc.’s (“Staples”) Motion for Summary Judgment.  [Filing No. 44.]  Plaintiff Leola Sarver alleg-

es that Staples, her former employer, discriminated against her and ultimately discharged her be-

cause she is African American.
1
  For the following reasons, the Court grants Staples’ motion and 

enters summary judgment in its favor. 

I. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 

A motion for summary judgment asks the Court to find that a trial is unnecessary because 

there is no genuine dispute as to any material fact and, instead, the movant is entitled to judg-

ment as a matter of law.  See Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).  As the current version of Rule 56 makes 

clear, whether a party asserts that a fact is undisputed or genuinely disputed, the party must sup-

port the asserted fact by citing to particular parts of the record, including depositions, documents, 

or affidavits.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(A).  A party can also support a fact by showing that the 

materials cited do not establish the absence or presence of a genuine dispute or that the adverse 

                                                 

1
 Ms. Sarver initially alleged religious discrimination, failure to accommodate, and retaliation 

claims as well, but she has expressly abandoned those claims in response to Staples’ summary 

judgment motion.  Those claims will therefore be dismissed with prejudice.  [Filing No. 54 at 1.] 
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party cannot produce admissible evidence to support the fact.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(1)(B).  Affi-

davits or declarations must be made on personal knowledge, set out facts that would be admissi-

ble in evidence, and show that the affiant is competent to testify on matters stated.  Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 56(c)(4).  Failure to properly support a fact in opposition to a movant’s factual assertion can 

result in the movant’s fact being considered undisputed, and potentially in the grant of summary 

judgment.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).    

On summary judgment, a party must show the Court what evidence it has that would 

convince a trier of fact to accept its version of the events.  Johnson v. Cambridge Indus., 325 

F.3d 892, 901 (7th Cir. 2003).  The moving party is entitled to summary judgment if no reasona-

ble fact-finder could return a verdict for the non-moving party.  Nelson v. Miller, 570 F.3d 868, 

875 (7th Cir. 2009).  The Court views the record in the light most favorable to the non-moving 

party and draws all reasonable inferences in that party’s favor.  Darst v. Interstate Brands Corp., 

512 F.3d 903, 907 (7th Cir. 2008).  It cannot weigh evidence or make credibility determinations 

on summary judgment because those tasks are left to the fact-finder.  O’Leary v. Accretive 

Health, Inc., 657 F.3d 625, 630 (7th Cir. 2011).  The Court need only consider the cited materi-

als, Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(c)(3), and the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has “repeatedly assured 

the district courts that they are not required to scour every inch of the record for evidence that is 

potentially relevant to the summary judgment motion before them,” Johnson, 325 F.3d at 898.  

Any doubt as to the existence of a genuine issue for trial is resolved against the moving party.  

Ponsetti v. GE Pension Plan, 614 F.3d 684, 691 (7th Cir. 2010).   

II. 

RELEVANT BACKGROUND 

 

The following facts are primarily undisputed, except as noted.  Where there is a genuine 

dispute, all reasonable inferences are made in favor of Ms. Sarver, the non-movant. 
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A.  Ms. Sarver’s Employment with Staples 

On May 5, 2006, Ms. Sarver, an African-American female, was hired as a Production As-

sociate at Staples’ Distribution Center (the “DC”) in Terre Haute, Indiana.  [Filing No. 46-4 at 

34.]  In June 2007, Ms. Sarver was promoted to the position of Hourly Trainer.  [Filing No. 46-1 

at 4; Filing No. 46-4 at 34.]  She worked the night shift, for which she earned a base hourly wage 

plus a night-shift differential of forty cents per hour.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 15-16.]  Ms. Sarver’s 

responsibilities included getting to know new hires, giving them a tour of the DC, introducing 

them to other employees, explaining emergency procedures, and taking them to their work sta-

tions.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 8-9.]  Ms. Sarver reported directly to Star Groza, who was the Lead 

Trainer.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 11.] 

When she was not training, Ms. Sarver assisted in production and inventory control.  

[Filing No. 46-1 at 7-8; Filing No. 46-4 at 20-21.]  Office workers who were not directly related 

to production at the DC were subject to a flex schedule.  [Filing No. 46-4 at 7-8.]  Those workers 

did not have a set start or end time; they just had to meet their hours.  [Filing No. 46-4 at 7.]  

Shipping Clerks, Receiving Clerks, and Trainers were not on a flex schedule.  [Filing No. 46-4 at 

7-8.]  The parties do not dispute that Ms. Sarver did not have a flex schedule. 

On October 31, 2010, Ms. Groza was transferred to a different position at the DC, [Filing 

No. 46-1 at 11], and the Lead Trainer position was eliminated, [Filing No. 46-4 at 41].  Cassie 

Hoggatt, the Human Resources Supervisor, became Ms. Sarver’s supervisor.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 

11; Filing No. 46-4 at 10.]  Ms. Sarver, the only remaining Hourly Trainer, was transferred to the 

day shift.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 10-11.]  Ms. Sarver stopped receiving the forty cents per hour 

night-shift pay differential after she was transferred to the day shift.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 15-16.]   
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In March 2011, Staples posted an opening for an Hourly Trainer on the night shift.  

[Filing No. 54-3 at 16.]  In April 2011, Staples hired Charlene Potter Ferris for that position.  

[Filing No. 46-6 at 2.]  Ms. Ferris received the forty cents per hour night-shift pay differential.  

[Filing No. 46-6 at 2.]  There is no evidence that Ms. Sarver applied for the night-shift position.   

  Ms. Sarver remained as an Hourly Trainer on the day shift until she was terminated on 

October 17, 2011, for violating Staples’ call-in policy, as detailed further below.  [Filing No. 46-

1 at 6; Filing No. 46-4 at 38.] 

B.  Staples’ Call-In Policies 

Staples published two versions of its call-in policy during Ms. Sarver’s employment.  The 

first version was effective from 2005 until June 2, 2011 (the “2005 Call-In Policy”).  [Filing No. 

46-3 at 23.]  It provided as follows: 

Call-In Policy: 

 

Associates must leave a message on the voice mail system “call in channel” when 

reporting an absence.  The individual associate and not another person must make 

the call, unless an emergency situation makes this impossible.  No other method 

of leaving a message is acceptable.  This call should be made as soon as possible 

but no later than thirty (30) minutes before the start of their shift. 

 

Associates who fail to report to work and/or call in thirty (30) minutes after the 

start of their shift will be subject to the following disciplinary action for each day 

a no call is received: (each scheduled day represents an offense) 

 

1st offense in a 12 month period — Written Warning 

2nd offense in a 12 month period — Final Written Warning 

3rd offense in a 12 month period — Termination 

 

 [Filing No. 46-3 at 23.] 

 The second version of the call-in policy became effective June 3, 2011 (the “2011 Call-In 

Policy”).  [Filing No. 46-4 at 29.]  It provided as follows: 

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193138?page=16
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125286?page=2
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125286?page=2
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125281?page=6
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125281?page=6
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=38
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=23
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=23
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=23
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Call-In Policy: 

 

If you are going to be absent from work, you are required to call the call in chan-

nel at [XXX-XXX-XXXX] as soon as possible but no later than one hour after the 

start of your scheduled shift.  Associates must leave a message on the voice mail 

system “call in channel” when reporting an absence.  The individual associate and 

not another person must make the call, unless an emergency situation makes this 

impossible.  No other method of leaving a message is acceptable. A call in viola-

tion will be considered calling in after one hour after the start of your scheduled 

shift and will result in the next step of disciplinary action being issued under the 

performance management policy. 

 

Failure to notify for a full day of absence will be subject to the following steps 

under the performance management policy: 

 

1 day NC/NS = Written Warning or next level of discipline 

2 consecutive days NC/NS = Final Warning or next level of discipline 

3 consecutive days NC/NS = voluntary termination 

 

[Filing No. 46-4 at 29.]  

C. Ms. Sarver’s Violations of the Call-In Policy 

1) First Violation 

On November 3, 2010, Ms. Sarver was supposed to arrive at work at 6:00 a.m.
2
  [Filing 

No. 46-3 at 20; Filing No. 46-2 at 12.]  She did not call in and did not report to work until 6:59 

a.m.  [Filing No. 46-3 at 20.]  Ms. Hoggatt issued Ms. Sarver a written warning for violating Sta-

ples’ 2005 Call-In policy, which required her to leave a message on the call-in channel no later 

than 30 minutes after the start of her shift.  [Filing No. 46-3 at 20.] 

                                                 
2
 The Counseling Notice Ms. Sarver received after her first violation of the call-in policy lists her 

start time as 5:30 a.m.  [Filing No. 46-3 at 20.]  In her deposition, Ms. Sarver attested that her 

start time was actually 6:00 a.m.  [Filing No. 46-2 at 11.]  Regardless of Ms. Sarver’s start time, 

she does not dispute that she did not call the call-in channel and arrived at work at 6:59 a.m., 

which was a violation of the 2005 policy.  [Filing No. 46-3 at 20; Filing No 46-3 at 23.]  Moreo-

ver, Ms. Sarver makes much of the fact that her first violation occurred shortly after she switched 

to the day shift, [Filing No. 54 at 5 (listing this as a “Clarification” instead of a “Disputed” fact)], 

but she does not contend that it excuses her first violation of the call-in policy. 

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=29
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=20
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=20
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=12
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=20
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=20
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=20
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=11
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=20
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2) Second Violation 

In May 2011, Ms. Sarver took time off work to attend a conference.  [Filing No. 46-2 at 

15.]  After she returned, she saw Ms. Hoggatt at the DC for the employee scratch and dent sale.  

[Filing No. 46-2 at 15; Filing No. 46-4 at 18.]  Ms. Sarver “had forgotten [her] actual return time 

but actually had volunteered to come into work” that day.  [Filing No. 46-2 at 15.]   Ms. Hoggatt 

“told [her] to enjoy [her] day off and don’t worry about it.”  [Filing No. 46-2 at 15.]  Ms. Hoggatt 

told Ms. Sarver that Ms. Hoggatt “wasn’t responsible for -- to tell [Ms. Sarver]” her schedule.  

[Filing No. 46-2 at 15; Filing No. 46-2 at 16 (“I thought I was off.  But again, [Ms. Hoggatt] 

stated that she was not responsible for my schedule.”).] 

Ms. Sarver was scheduled to work on May 24, 2011, but she did not report for her shift or 

call the call-in channel.
3
  [Filing No. 46-3 at 21.]  Ms. Hoggatt issued Ms. Sarver a Final Written 

Warning for her second violation of the 2005 Call-In Policy, since she did not call the call-in 

channel within 30 minutes of the start of her shift.  [Filing No. 46-3 at 21.] 

3) Third Violation 

On October 15, 2011, Ms. Sarver was scheduled to report to work at 5:30 a.m.  [Filing 

No. 46-3 at 22.]  She overslept and did not call the call-in channel to report that she would be late 

                                                 
3
 Ms. Hoggatt attests that she called Ms. Sarver on May 23, 2011, and left her a voicemail mes-

sage informing her that she was scheduled to work the following day.  [Filing No. 46-6 at 4.]  

Ms. Sarver denies receiving a message.  [Filing No. 54 at 5.]  The presence or absence of such a 

message does not create an issue of material fact because Ms. Sarver admits that Ms. Hoggatt 

told her that Ms. Sarver’s schedule was not Ms. Hoggatt’s responsibility.  [Filing No. 46-2 at 15; 

Filing No. 46-2 at 16 (“I thought I was off.  But again, [Ms. Hoggatt] stated that she was not re-

sponsible for my schedule.”).]  Moreover, as Staples points out, Ms. Sarver has not submitted an 

affidavit or any other evidence to rebut Ms. Hoggatt’s sworn representation that she left Ms. 

Sarver a message.  [Filing No. 60 at 15.]  Failure to properly support a fact in opposition to a 

movant’s factual assertion can result in the movant’s fact being considered undisputed, and po-

tentially in the grant of summary judgment.  Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e).    

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=15
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=15
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=15
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=18
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=15
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=15
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=15
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=16
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=21
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=21
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=22
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=22
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125286?page=4
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=5
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=15
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=16
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=15
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until 6:40 a.m., which was 1 hour and 10 minutes after the start of her scheduled shift.
4
  [Filing 

No. 46-3 at 22-23; Filing No. 46-2 at 18.] 

On October 17, 2011, Ms. Hoggatt told Ms. Sarver that she was being terminated for vio-

lating Staples’ call-in policy.  [Filing No. 46-3 at 6; Filing No. 46-4 at 38.]  The decision was 

made by Ms. Hoggatt and Matt French, who was the Human Resources Manager at that time.  

[Filing No. 46-4 at 26-27; Filing No. 46-4 at 36.]   

III. 

DISCUSSION 

 

Based on the Court’s review of the parties’ briefs,
5
 Ms. Sarver proffers five adverse em-

ployment actions she contends she suffered while she worked at Staples: 1) Staples failed to 

promote her to the position of Lead Trainer; 2) Staples transferred her to the day shift; 3) Staples 

denied her request to be put on a flex schedule; 4) she was “not afforded the opportunity to return 

to her prior position as night shift trainer” before Staples hired Ms. Ferris; and 5) Staples fired 

her for violations of its call-in policies as a pretext for discrimination.  [Filing No. 54 at 8-11; 

Filing No. 54 at 14-17.]  The Court will address each claim in turn. 

                                                 

4
 Staples contends that Ms. Sarver called a loss prevention employee on the day in question and 

asked her to say that Ms. Sarver called in at 6:20, which would be 50 minutes after the start of 

her shift and not a violation of the 2011 Call-In Policy.  [Filing No. 45 at 8.]  Ms. Sarver denies 

this.  [Filing No. 54 at 5-6.]  Because Ms. Sarver admitted in her deposition that she was 1 hour 

and 10 minutes late on the day in question and does not contend that she made a timely call to 

the call-in channel, [Filing No. 46-2 at 18; Filing No. 54 at 5-6], the parties’ dispute regarding 

the alleged conversation between Ms. Sarver and the loss prevention employee is not material. 

5
 The summary judgment briefing in this case is an example of an inefficiency the Court sees too 

often in employment discrimination cases—the employer moves for summary judgment on any 

claim it thinks the employee could be making; the employee abandons some claims in response 

and clarifies others; and the Court is left to sort through what is left based on the employer’s re-

ply and its assessment of the briefs.  The Court reminds the parties that contention interrogatories 

can be a useful tool to “minimize uncertainty concerning the scope of [a plaintiff’s] claims.”  Vi-

dimos, Inc. v. Laser Lab Ltd., 99 F.3d 217, 222 (7th Cir. 1996); Fed. R. Civ. Pro. 33(a)(2). 

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=22
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=22
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=18
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125283?page=6
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=38
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=26
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=36
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=8
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=14
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125255?page=8
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=5
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125282?page=18
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=5
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Id08bcaf9940511d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051d000001456c1c4f40d1a30b48%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DId08bcaf9940511d993e6d35cc61aab4a%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=6d4c625df0f17e1dc34b2a6876d3eb16&list=CASE&rank=2&grading=na&sessionScopeId=d0063f85722004ead605fa29bebc3bcf&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29#co_term_4015
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Id08bcaf9940511d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051d000001456c1c4f40d1a30b48%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DId08bcaf9940511d993e6d35cc61aab4a%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=6d4c625df0f17e1dc34b2a6876d3eb16&list=CASE&rank=2&grading=na&sessionScopeId=d0063f85722004ead605fa29bebc3bcf&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29#co_term_4015
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/N4CB6E640B96511D8983DF34406B5929B/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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A.  Proving A Discrimination Claim 

To overcome summary judgment on a Title VII discrimination claim, Ms. Sarver may ei-

ther provide direct evidence of discrimination under the direct method, Rhodes v. Ill. Dep’t of 

Transp., 359 F.3d 498, 504 (7th Cir. 2004), or proceed under the indirect method by utilizing the 

burden-shifting analysis of McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Green, 411 U.S. 792, 802 (1973).  Ms. 

Sarver is proceeding under the indirect method of proof.  [Filing No. 54 at 7 (“Sarver elects to 

proceed under the indirect method.”).] 

To survive summary judgment, Ms. Sarver must first establish a prima facie case of dis-

crimination.  Id. at 802.  Specifically, she must show that: (1) she was a member of a protected 

class; (2) she adequately performed her employment responsibilities; (3) despite adequate per-

formance, she suffered an adverse employment action; and (4) she received different treatment 

than similarly situated persons who were not members of the same protected class.  See Boume-

hdi v. Plastag Holdings, LLC, 489 F.3d 781, 790 (7th Cir. 2007) (citation omitted).   

Staples does not challenge that Ms. Sarver is a member of a protected class or that she 

was adequately performing her employment responsibilities.  Thus, Ms. Sarver need only show 

the last two elements to establish a prima facie case—that she suffered an adverse employment 

action and that she received different treatment than similarly situated persons who were not 

members of the same protected class.  If she can make that showing, the burden shifts to Staples 

to come forth with a “legitimate, non-discriminatory reason” for its actions.  Hill v. Potter, 625 

F.3d 998, 1001 (7th Cir. 2010) (citation omitted).  If Staples can do so, it will prevail unless Ms. 

Sarver can come forward with admissible evidence that the proffered non-discriminatory reason 

is “a pretext for intentional discrimination.”  Serednyj v. Beverly Healthcare, LLC, 656 F.3d 540, 

551 (7th Cir. 2011) (citation omitted).   

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I83ea062589f711d9903eeb4634b8d78e/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I83ea062589f711d9903eeb4634b8d78e/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Idf0ccea49c9c11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=7
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Idf0ccea49c9c11d993e6d35cc61aab4a/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ifb84399412cb11dc9b239dfedc9bb45f/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ifb84399412cb11dc9b239dfedc9bb45f/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I8429fb06b43e11dfb5fdfcf739be147c/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I8429fb06b43e11dfb5fdfcf739be147c/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I8a9e20c9d2b411e0be8fdb5fa26a1033/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I8a9e20c9d2b411e0be8fdb5fa26a1033/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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B.  Ms. Sarver’s Alleged Discrimination 

1) Failure to Promote to Lead Trainer 

Ms. Sarver argues that she suffered an adverse employment action when her supervisor, 

Lead Trainer Ms. Groza, was transferred to a different position and Staples did not promote Ms. 

Sarver to Lead Trainer.  [Filing No. 54 at 8.]  Ms. Sarver contends that with her experience, she 

“was a great candidate to supervise the training department.”  [Filing No. 54 at 9.] 

Staples points out that it eliminated the Lead Trainer position at the Terre Haute DC in 

October 2010 after it transferred Ms. Groza to another position.  [Filing No. 45 at 10 (citing Fil-

ing No. 46-4 at 6; Filing No. 46-5 at 8).]  

In a failure to promote claim, “a prima facie case presupposes the existence of an open 

position.”  Jones v. City of Springfield, Ill., 554 F.3d 669, 673 (7th Cir. 2009) (citing Howard v. 

Lear Corp. EEDS & Interiors, 234 F.3d 1002, 1005-06 (7th Cir. 2000) (defining second element 

of prima facie case in failure-to-promote claim as plaintiff “applied for, and was qualified for an 

open position”)).  “The lack of an opening is always a legitimate reason for refusing to hire or 

promote.”  Jones, 554 F.3d at 673.  If no employee is promoted during the relevant time period, 

“a failure-to-promote claim must fail because the claimant cannot argue that he was treated dif-

ferently than anyone else.”  Id.  

The undisputed evidence is that after transferring Ms. Groza from the Lead Trainer posi-

tion, Staples eliminated that position as “purely a financial budgetary decision based on softening 

sales.”  [Filing No. 46-5 at 8.]  There has not been a Lead Trainer since Ms. Groza was trans-

ferred from that position.  [Filing No. 46-5 at 8; Filing No. 46-4 at 6.]  Ms. Sarver ignores this 

evidence.  Because the lack of an opening is “always a legitimate reason for refusing to pro-

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=8
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=9
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125255?page=10
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=6
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=6
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125285?page=8
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I102b5eeceba211ddb5cbad29a280d47c/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2000640894&pubNum=506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_506_1005
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2000640894&pubNum=506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_506_1005
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I102b5eeceba211ddb5cbad29a280d47c/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I102b5eeceba211ddb5cbad29a280d47c/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125285?page=8
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125285?page=8
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=6
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mote,” Jones, 554 F.3d at 673, Ms. Sarver has not shown a prima facie case of employment dis-

crimination for Staples’ failure to promote her to Lead Trainer. 

2) Transfer to Day Shift 

Ms. Sarver contends that she suffered an adverse employment action when she was trans-

ferred to the day shift.  [Filing No. 54 at 9-11.]  She points out that because of her shift transfer, 

she was no longer entitled to the night-shift pay differential of forty cents per hour.  [Filing No. 

54 at 9-11.]   

Staples argues that Ms. Sarver’s claim regarding her transfer to the day shift is barred be-

cause the transfer occurred more than 300 days before she filed her discrimination charge with 

the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”).  [Filing No. 60 at 2-3.]  Alternative-

ly, Staples contends that Ms. Sarver’s transfer to the day shift was not an adverse employment 

action because it did not significantly change her compensation or cause her skills to atrophy.  

[Filing No. 60 at 5.]   

An EEOC charge “shall be filed ... within three hundred days after the alleged unlawful 

employment practice occurred.”  42 U.S.C. § 2000e–5(e)(1).  If a plaintiff fails to file a timely 

charge concerning a discrete act of discriminatory conduct, her claim is time-barred and “cannot 

be the basis of [her] Title VII claims.”  Lavalais v. Vill. of Melrose Park, 734 F.3d 629, 633 (7th 

Cir. 2013). 

Ms. Sarver was transferred to the day shift on October 31, 2010.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 10-

11.]  She did not file her EEOC charge until 487 days later on March 1, 2012.  [Filing No. 61-1 

at 2.]  Because she did not timely file her EEOC charge for purposes of pursuing a claim regard-

ing her initial transfer to the day shift, it cannot be the basis of her Title VII claims.  See La-

valais, 734 F.3d at 633 (holding that because an employee did not file his EEOC charge within 

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I102b5eeceba211ddb5cbad29a280d47c/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=9
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=9
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=9
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=2
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=5
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/N59AFBAF0F16611DD912E8289F0C93AAA/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456fd6d02ed6c072a4%3FNav%3DNONUNIQUECITATION%26fragmentIdentifier%3DN59AFBAF0F16611DD912E8289F0C93AAA%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DUniqueDocItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=1dd6f2a4550ae354aabb2a34b19f3c90&list=NONUNIQUECITATION&rank=0&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=NonUniqueFindSelected&transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ida1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456fc3ddf9d6c06444%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIda1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=aba47e87a31a991420a4d1ae53eb1966&list=CASE&rank=3&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29&isSnapSnippetLink=true#co_snip_40106
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ida1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456fc3ddf9d6c06444%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIda1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=aba47e87a31a991420a4d1ae53eb1966&list=CASE&rank=3&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29&isSnapSnippetLink=true#co_snip_40106
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125281?page=10
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125281?page=10
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220764?page=2
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220764?page=2
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ida1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456fc3ddf9d6c06444%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIda1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=aba47e87a31a991420a4d1ae53eb1966&list=CASE&rank=3&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29&isSnapSnippetLink=true#co_snip_40106
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ida1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456fc3ddf9d6c06444%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIda1751543ce711e380938e6f51729d80%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=aba47e87a31a991420a4d1ae53eb1966&list=CASE&rank=3&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29&isSnapSnippetLink=true#co_snip_40106
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300 days of being transferred to a different shift, “his initial placement on the midnight shift can-

not be the basis of his Title VII claims”).
6
 

3) Failure to Allow Flex Schedule 

a. Adverse Employment Action 

Ms. Sarver argues that she suffered an adverse employment action when she was not al-

lowed to be on a flex schedule and, instead, was subject to Staples’ call-in policies.  [Filing No. 

54 at 9.]  She claims that the majority of the employees who maintained office space around her 

were on a flex schedule, which meant that they had no set hours for reporting to work and were 

not subject to the call-in policies.  [Filing No. 54 at 2.]  Ms. Sarver contends that in conjunction 

with her transfer to the day shift, Staples’ denial of her flex time request “set her up to fail.”  

[Filing No. 54 at 9.] 

Staples contends that denying Ms. Sarver a flex-time schedule was not an adverse em-

ployment action because it did not rise to the level of creating an objective hardship.  [Filing No. 

60 at 6 (citing case law).]  Although Sarver may have “desired the freedom to come in late with-

out fear of penalty,” it is reasonable to assume that other employees would have other prefer-

                                                 
6
 Even if the Court considered the merits of Ms. Sarver’s claim regarding her transfer to the day 

shift, it agrees with Staples that Ms. Sarver’s transfer did not significantly alter her compensa-

tion, cause her skills to atrophy, or subject her to an unbearable work environment.  Without the 

night-shift differential, Ms. Sarver lost approximately $3.20 per 8 hour shift, which was 2% of 

her pay.  [See Filing No. 60 at 5.]  This is not the significant change in benefits required for an 

adverse employment action.  See Alexander v. Casino Queen, Inc., 739 F.3d 972, 980-81 (7th 

Cir. 2014) (emphasizing that the change in benefits must be “significant” and that a placement 

that jeopardizes 40%-73% of a plaintiff’s tip compensation is significant); see also Waters v. 

City of Dallas, 2012 WL 5363426, *9-10 (N.D. Tex. 2012) (holding that an employee did not 

experience adverse employment action because reasonable factfinder could not conclude that 

trade-off between night-shift differential and day-shift hours caused plaintiff harm).  Moreover, 

Ms. Sarver’s job duties as an Hourly Trainer did not change with the shift transfer.  See O’Neal 

v. City of Chicago, 392 F.3d 909, 913 (7th Cir. 2004) (“To sustain a federal employment dis-

crimination suit, a plaintiff must show something more than the ordinary difficulties associated 

with a job transfer. . . .  As we have stated before, being shifted to an essentially equivalent job 

that an employee does not happen to like as much does not a Title VII claim create.”).   

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=9
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=9
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=2
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=9
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=6
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=6
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=5
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2032497786&pubNum=0000506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_981
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2032497786&pubNum=0000506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_981
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I18b5b7cb24bc11e2b11ea85d0b248d27/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456ff3fcf5d6c09759%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DI18b5b7cb24bc11e2b11ea85d0b248d27%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=a740077850722b8490142aaf7b4212b5&list=CASE&rank=15&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Smart%20Answer&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I18b5b7cb24bc11e2b11ea85d0b248d27/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456ff3fcf5d6c09759%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DI18b5b7cb24bc11e2b11ea85d0b248d27%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=a740077850722b8490142aaf7b4212b5&list=CASE&rank=15&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Smart%20Answer&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Iaac755cd882811d9903eeb4634b8d78e/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456ff99ad3d6c09e8a%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIaac755cd882811d9903eeb4634b8d78e%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=ec941ab35c5702c76a9d958a922ea08e&list=CASE&rank=1&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29&isSnapSnippetLink=true#co_snip_46532
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Iaac755cd882811d9903eeb4634b8d78e/View/FullText.html?navigationPath=Search%2Fv3%2Fsearch%2Fresults%2Fnavigation%2Fi0ad7051e000001456ff99ad3d6c09e8a%3FNav%3DCASE%26fragmentIdentifier%3DIaac755cd882811d9903eeb4634b8d78e%26startIndex%3D1%26contextData%3D%2528sc.Search%2529%26transitionType%3DSearchItem&listSource=Search&listPageSource=ec941ab35c5702c76a9d958a922ea08e&list=CASE&rank=1&grading=na&sessionScopeId=c1446fc27742fd6cc9d6c588934f28c6&originationContext=Search%20Result&transitionType=SearchItem&contextData=%28sc.Search%29&isSnapSnippetLink=true#co_snip_46532
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ences, and idiosyncratic preferences for one job over another are not actionable.  [Filing No. 60 

at 7.] 

“The phrase ‘adverse employment action’ is a ‘judicial gloss’ [on the term ‘discrimina-

tion’ in Title VII] that ‘often may help to express the idea—which the Supreme Court has em-

braced—that it is essential to distinguish between material differences and the many day-to-day 

travails and disappointments that, although frustrating, are not so central to the employment rela-

tion that they amount to discriminatory terms and conditions.’”  Dass v. Chicago Bd. of Educ., 

675 F.3d 1060, 1068 n.9 (7th Cir. 2012) (emphasis in original) (quoting Minor v. Centocor, Inc., 

457 F.3d 632, 634 (7th Cir. 2006)).  “The idea behind requiring proof of an adverse employment 

action is simply that a statute which forbids employment discrimination is not intended to reach 

every bigoted act or gesture that a worker might encounter in the workplace.”  Hunt v. City of 

Markham, Ill., 219 F.3d 649, 653 (7th Cir. 2000).  Therefore, “[a] materially adverse employ-

ment action is something ‘more disruptive than a mere inconvenience or an alteration of job re-

sponsibilities.’”  Rhodes, 359 F.3d at 504 (quoting Crady v. Liberty National Bank and Trust Co. 

of Ind., 993 F.2d 132, 136 (7th Cir. 1993)).   

 Ms. Sarver cites no authority for her proposition that the denial of a flex-time request 

constitutes an adverse employment action, and the Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has held in 

the context of a constructive discharge claim that the denial of a flex-time request is not actiona-

ble.  Simpson v. Borg-Warner Auto., Inc., 196 F.3d 873, 877 (7th Cir. 1999); see also Rabinovitz 

v. Pena, 89 F.3d 482, 486, 489 (7th Cir. 1996) (discussing the “mere inconveniences” of an em-

ployee who had, among other things, been denied a flex-time request).  In fact, the evidence in 

this case shows why some employees might prefer not to be on a flex schedule: Staples employ-

ees who were on a flex schedule were not eligible for perfect attendance incentives that entitled 

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=7
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=7
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I4946a718851511e1b720a7764cbfcb47/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_506_1068
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I4946a718851511e1b720a7764cbfcb47/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_506_1068
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2009673976&pubNum=506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_506_634
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2009673976&pubNum=506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)#co_pp_sp_506_634
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I6cf1b2c1798911d99c4dbb2f0352441d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I6cf1b2c1798911d99c4dbb2f0352441d/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I83ea062589f711d9903eeb4634b8d78e/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ia3aced12957d11d9a707f4371c9c34f0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ia3aced12957d11d9a707f4371c9c34f0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I289c856594b811d9bdd1cfdd544ca3a4/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I8fbfc2d6933111d9a707f4371c9c34f0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
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them to extra paid leave.  [Filing No. 46-5 at 4 (describing incentive program where employee 

who has perfect attendance for a quarter receives an extra day of paid leave and an employee 

who has perfect attendance for a year receives an additional week of paid leave).]  Subjective 

preferences of an employee are generally insufficient to show an adverse employment action.  

See Herrnreiter v. Chicago Hous. Auth., 315 F.3d 742, 745 (7th Cir. 2002).  Accordingly, Sta-

ples’ denial of Ms. Sarver’s flex-time request was not an adverse employment action. 

b. Proffered Comparator 

Even if Staples’ denial of Ms. Sarver’s flex-time request constitutes an actionable adverse 

employment action, the Court concludes that Ms. Sarver has not proffered a similarly situated 

comparator for purposes of making a prima facie case of discrimination.   

Ms. Sarver compares herself to Tina Lillie, who was a Human Resources Administrative 

Assistant under Ms. Hoggatt’s supervision and on a flex schedule.  [Filing No. 54 at 12.]  Staples 

disputes that Ms. Lillie was similarly situated to Ms. Sarver, emphasizing the differences in the 

employees’ duties.  [Filing No. 60 at 10-11.]  It further points out that if Ms. Sarver was not 

available for training, a competent production associate had to be removed from production to 

help the new employee.
7
  [Filing No. 60 at 10.] 

The Seventh Circuit Court of Appeals has emphasized that “the similarly-situated in-

quiry is flexible, common-sense, and factual.  It asks ‘essentially, are there enough common fea-

tures between the individuals to allow a meaningful comparison?’”  Coleman v. Donahoe, 667 

F.3d 835, 841 (7th Cir. 2012).  Although similarly situated employees must be “directly compa-

rable to the plaintiff in all material respects,” they “need not be identical in every conceivable 

                                                 
7
 Staples points out that the night-shift Hourly Trainer, Ms. Ferris, would make a more apt com-

parator and emphasizes that Staples also did not permit her to work on a flex schedule.  [Filing 

No. 60 at 11.]  Staples cites no evidence for its assertion that Ms. Ferris was not permitted to be 

on a flex schedule, so the Court will not consider it. 

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125285?page=4
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=2002806634&pubNum=506&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_506_744
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314193135?page=12
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=10
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=10
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ic8523fdb393c11e18da7c4363d0963b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ic8523fdb393c11e18da7c4363d0963b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=11
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=11
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way[,]” and the Court is “looking for comparators, not clones.”  Id. at 846 (citations omitted).  

As long as distinctions between the plaintiff and the proposed comparator are not “so significant 

that they render the comparison effectively useless,” the similarly-situated requirement is satis-

fied.  Id.  Whether a comparator is similarly situated is usually a question for the fact-finder, and 

summary judgment is appropriate only when “no reasonable fact-finder could find that plaintiff 

[has met his] burden on the issue.”  Id. at 847. 

Typically, a plaintiff must at least show that a comparator: (1) had the same supervisor; 

(2) was subject to the same standards; and (3) engaged in “similar conduct without such differ-

entiating or mitigating circumstances as would distinguish their conduct or the employer’s 

treatment of them.”  Id. (citation omitted).  The Seventh Circuit has cautioned, however, that 

these factors are “not a ‘magic formula’” and that the “similarly-situated inquiry should not de-

volve into a mechanical, one-to-one mapping between employees.”  Id. (citation omitted). 

After the Lead Trainer position was eliminated, Ms. Hoggatt began supervising Ms. 

Sarver.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 11; Filing No. 46-4 at 10.]  Ms. Sarver’s responsibilities as an Hourly 

Trainer included getting to know new hires, giving them a tour of the DC, introducing them to 

other employees, explaining emergency procedures, and taking them to their work stations.  

[Filing No. 46-1 at 8-9.]  When she was not training, Ms. Sarver assisted in production and in-

ventory control.  [Filing No. 46-1 at 7-8; Filing No. 46-4 at 20-21.]  If Ms. Sarver was not avail-

able to train a new employee, a competent production associate would be pulled off of produc-

tion to cover.  [Filing No. 61-2 at 5.] 

Ms. Lillie was also supervised by Ms. Hoggatt.  [Filing No. 46-4 at 3-4.]  As the Human 

Resources Administrative Assistant, Ms. Lillie was responsible for coordinating Staples’ recruit-

ing efforts, reviewing employment applications, backing up payroll, receiving performance man-

https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ic8523fdb393c11e18da7c4363d0963b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ic8523fdb393c11e18da7c4363d0963b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ic8523fdb393c11e18da7c4363d0963b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ic8523fdb393c11e18da7c4363d0963b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/Ic8523fdb393c11e18da7c4363d0963b0/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.DocLink)
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125281?page=11
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=10
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125281?page=8
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125281?page=7
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=20
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220765?page=5
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=3
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agement training documents, and recording information in Staples’ database of records.  [Filing 

No. 46-4 at 3-4.]  Ms. Lillie would occasionally assist in the DC doing production work.  [Filing 

No. 46-4 at 23.]  There is no evidence that Ms. Lillie did any training. 

Even construed in a light most favorable to Ms. Sarver, the evidence shows that she and 

Ms. Lillie are not similarly situated comparators.  They had the same supervisor and both did 

production work at times, but the bulk of their job responsibilities were materially different.  In 

fact, the undisputed evidence shows that if Ms. Sarver was not available for training, Staples had 

to pull a competent production associate off production to cover.  [Filing No. 61-2 at 5.]  In other 

words, Staples had a business incentive to make sure that Ms. Sarver was on time working regu-

lar hours.  This business justification for not permitting Ms. Sarver to have a flex schedule dis-

tinguishes Staples’ treatment of the two women.  Accordingly, the Court concludes that Ms. 

Sarver has not presented a similarly situated comparator for purposes of proving her claim re-

garding Staples’ denial of her flex-time request.  Coolidge v. Consol. City of Indianapolis, 505 

F.3d 731, 736 (7th Cir. 2007) (requiring similarly-situated comparator to prove prima facie case); 

Garcia v. United States Postal Serv., 414 Fed. Appx. 855, 858 (7th Cir. 2011) (“Because Garcia 

cannot point to a similarly situated employee outside the protected class who was treated more 

favorably, he cannot establish a prima facie case of national-origin discrimination.”). 

4) Failure to Return to Night Shift 

Ms. Sarver argues that she suffered an adverse employment action when she “was not af-

forded the opportunity to return to her prior position as night shift trainer even though she had 

held that exact same position for over four years prior.”  [Filing No. 54 at 11.]  She points out 

that if she had returned to that position, she would have been entitled to the night-shift differen-

tial, which would have raised her wages by forty cents per hour.  [Filing No. 54 at 11.] 

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=3
https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314125284?page=23
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https://a.next.westlaw.com/Document/I5676f2b07be711dcbd4c839f532b53c5/View/FullText.html?transitionType=UniqueDocItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
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Staples emphasizes that it did not hire Sarver for the night-shift Hourly Trainer position 

because she did not apply.  [Filing No. 60 at 11.]   

To make a prima facie case in the failure to hire context, the McDonnell Douglas test re-

quires Ms. Sarver to show, among other things, that she “was qualified for an open position for 

which she applied” and that her “application for employment was rejected.”  Blise v. An-

taramian, 409 F.3d 861, 866 (7th Cir. 2005) (emphasis added).   

The undisputed evidence shows that in March 2011, Staples posted an opening for an 

Hourly Trainer on the night shift, [Filing No. 54-3 at 16], and hired Charlene Potter Ferris the 

following month, [Filing No. 46-6 at 2].  Ms. Sarver points to no evidence that she applied for 

that position.  Therefore, she cannot make a prima facie case of employment discrimination on 

this claim. 

5) Termination for Violating Call-In Policy 

The Court notes that Ms. Sarver references her termination under the heading “Defend-

ant’s stated reason for the termination of Sarver is pretext.”  [Filing No. 54 at 14.]  That heading 

suggests that Ms. Sarver is not trying to make a prima facie case regarding her actual termination 

but, instead, relies on it for the pretext element of the McDonnell Douglas burden-shifting analy-

sis.  But because the Court has concluded that Ms. Sarver has not made a prima facie case of dis-

crimination with regard to any of her other claims, the burden never shifted to Staples to come 

forth with a legitimate, non-discriminatory reason for its actions and, consequently, the burden 

never shifted back to Ms. Sarver to prove pretext. Hill, 625 F.3d at 1001; Serednyj, 656 F.3d at 

551.  Thus, the Court will not address Ms. Sarver’s pretext argument.   

If Ms. Sarver did intend to make a prima facie case of discriminatory discharge, that 

claim fails because, as Staples points out in its reply, she has not proffered a similarly-situated 

https://ecf.insd.uscourts.gov/doc1/07314220510?page=11
https://a.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1973126392&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.UserEnteredCitation)
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employee who violated Staples’ call-in policies and was not discharged.  [Filing No. 60 at 12; 

see also Filing No. 46-4 at 40 (Staples’ interrogatory responses listing 8 former employees of 

various races who were discharged for violating the call-in policies).]  Because Ms. Sarver did 

not point to a similarly-situated employee outside the protected class who was treated more fa-

vorably with regard to the call-in policy, she has not established a prima facie case of discrimina-

tory discharge.  Coolidge, 505 F.3d at 736 (requiring similarly-situated comparator to prove pri-

ma facie case); Garcia, 414 Fed. Appx. at 858. 

IV. 

CONCLUSION 

 

For the reasons stated herein, the Court GRANTS Defendant’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment.  [Filing No. 44.]  The parties’ Joint Motion to Enlarge Final Pretrial Filing Deadlines 

is DENIED AS MOOT.  [Filing No. 66.]  Final judgment shall issue accordingly. 
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